
Bronxchester RFP Addendum 1 
RFP issue date: March 29, 2013 

Addendum 1 issue date: May 7, 2013 
 
Contents of the Addendum 
 

A. Questions and Answers – Enclosed is a summary of questions and answers discussed 
at the pre-submission conference that took place on April 24, 2013.  Also included are 
questions and answers that have been sent to the Bronxchester email address. 

 
B. Contact Information – Contact Information is provided for those individuals who 

attended the pre-submission conference and indicated that they are willing to share their 
contact information. 

 
C. Modified Design Guidelines – Modified Design Guidelines are enclosed.  This replaces 

Section III, D, Design Guidelines in the original RFP.   
 

D. Map of Sewer Easement  – Block 2361, Lot 25 – Enclosed is a Map identifying the 
Sewer Easement from the Bronx Topography Unit.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



A. Questions and Answers 
 
Questions received at the 4/24/2013 pre-submission conference and others received by 
email (through May 6) are included below.   
 
 
Development Experience 
 
Question 1: Will you consider loosening the developer experience threshold for this RFP 
and in future RFPs?  
Answer 1: For this RFP, please make your case and state your development experience.  We will 
review it on a case-by-case basis.  We are not planning on making changes to this RFP at this 
time.  HPD would like to ensure that the selected Development Team has the capability and 
capacity necessary to develop a high-quality Development(s) at this important Site.   
 
Question 2: Have you considered a multi-tiered review approach where experience isn’t a 
threshold factor, but a competitive factor? 
Answer 2: What has been described is the way we approach our RFQ process.  It is an 
interesting suggestion that we can look into.   
 
Question 3: Is there a preference for development teams with locally-based groups? 
Answer 3: We encourage partnerships with locally-based groups, but there is no preference in 
this RFP for partnership with locally-based groups.    
 
 
Design 
 
Question 4: The RFP talks about “creative treatment” on Block 2361/Lot 25, please explain 
what this means and if you are looking for something specific? 
Answer 4: We are not looking for a specific treatment, but would like a thoughtful design 
approach to the easement and its surrounding area.  We wanted to ensure that the easement and 
its surrounding area are activated.   
 
Question 5: Is a survey available for distribution for Block 2361/Lot 25? 
Answer 5: No, a survey is not available for distribution.  Though the City Tax Map does not 
identify an easement, a Map identifying the Sewer Easement on Block 2361/Lot 25 is attached as 
Part D of this Addendum.  The Map is from the Bronx Topography Unit. 
 
Question 6: If you treat Block 2361/Lot 25 as a street, can you have residential entrances 
of buildings fronting it? 
Answer 6: Yes, you may have residential entrances of buildings fronting the street, presuming all 
zoning, building code, and other applicable regulations are met. 
 
Question 7: Can you build over the easement on Lot 25 and to what height? 
Answer 7:  One may not directly build in the easement on Lot 25.  Building in the area above the 
easement (e.g. cantilevered over the street bed) is permitted as long as the height of the structure 
allows the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) to adequately access the utility 
easement.  DEP needs a height clearance in the 20-25’ range. 
 
Question 8: The tax map shows easements on the north side of East 153 Street (on the 
south end of Block 2363, Lot 1) and on the south side of East 153 Street (on the north end 
of Block 2361, Lot 26).  What type of easements are these and how should we address 
them? 
Answer 8: The easements are a former street widening plan for 153rd Street.  In the Submission, 
buildings may not be placed on top of the easement.  After designation of a Development Team, 



the City may pursue actions to remove the easements and designs may be amended by the 
selected Developer.   
 
Question 9: Since the site will have to be rezoned, why not also allow a scenario, not as an 
alternative, that complies with General Large-Scale Development?  Should teams be 
directed to dedicate their efforts towards a single C6-2 with GLSD solution?  
Answer 9: The inclusion of a GLSD solution for this RFP is allowed, but not preferred.  Teams will 
not be directed to dedicate their efforts towards a GLSD solution.   
 
Question 10: Section 36-532 limits where curb cuts can be located for residential parking, 
and prohibits them on a wide street. This will mean that the residential parking curb cut for 
Parcel B cannot be located where the Urban Design Guidelines suggest unless the site is 
developed under a GLSD. 
Answer 10: See Modified Design Guidelines, Part C in Addendum 1.   
 
Question 11: Section 36-682 requires loading docks to be at least 50’ from an intersection. 
Given the potential required size of the loading docks, it may be difficult or impossible to 
locate the loading docks for parcel B where indicated on the Design Guidelines. Should we 
presume that 36-682 would be waived if necessary to meet the requirements of the RFP 
through a GLSDA or that we should ignore the RFP requirement should it conflict with 36-
682? 
Answer 11: See Modified Design Guidelines, Part C in Addendum 1.   
 
 
Financing 
 
Question 12: Is HPD assuming HOME funds?  
Answer 12: HPD is not assuming HOME funds, but proposals may include HOME funds in the 
submission. 
 
Question 13: Is there a concern that HDC volume cap will not be available? 
Answer 13: Tax Exempt Bond Volume Cap is a limited public resource.  While Volume Cap is not 
considered to be a competitive source for the purposes of this RFP, proposals that minimize the 
use of limited public resources, while being responsive to the goals of the RFP, will be viewed 
favorably. 
 
Question 14: Is HDC funding considered a competitive or non-competitive source? 
Answer 14: HDC Term Sheet programs are not considered a competitive source.  
 
Question 15: Will there be similar subsidy provided for this project as there was for Via 
Verde in order to improve the design and sustainability features? 
Answer 15: Via Verde was a design competition, while Bronxchester is an RFP.  While we are 
seeking a development proposal with a high level of design quality, subsidy requests must 
comply with HPD and HDC term sheets.   
 
 
Program 
  
Question 16: Is there a preference for residential, commercial or community facility space? 
Answer 16: Our goal is to develop a mixed-use development that will enhance the vibrancy and 
character of the neighborhood by seamlessly integrating the proposed development into the 
existing neighborhood.  To achieve this goal, we assume a large component will be residential, 
but do not have a preference for commercial or community facility space.   
 
 
 



Question 17: Are there any program restrictions on the type of affordable housing that will 
be built?    
Answer 17: Preference will be given to Proposals with a wider range in affordability, serving a 
variety of populations at multiple income levels. In addition, Proposals that incorporate a 
supportive housing component will be considered.  
 
 
Other 
 
Question 18: Is there a preference for phasing Sites A and B? 
Answer 18: If there is phasing, there is no preference for phasing of Sites A and B.  Phasing, if 
needed, will be discussed with the selected Development team(s).   
 
Question 19: Can you talk about MTA’s involvement and getting their feedback? 
Answer 19: MTA will not be involved in the selection of the Development Proposal and will be 
involved once a Development Team is selected.  See Appendix H for New York City Transit’s 
Guidelines for Approval of Projects within the Influence of Existing NYC Transit Structures.   
 
Question 20: What is EDC’s involvement in the RFP review process? 
Answer 20: We will confer with EDC with proposals that have a significant commercial component 
to the project.  
 
Question 21: Can you reduce the amount of paper requested in the Submission? 
Answer 21: Tab D (Development Experience, Management Experience and Current Workload) 
and Tab L (Sustainability Elements) may be submitted electronically.  Paper submissions for 
these two Tabs are not necessary.  For future RFPs, we will look to further reduce the amount of 
paper requested in the Submission. 
 
Question 22: Have there been any discussions with the local BID about this RFP? 
Answer 22: No, there have been no discussions with the local BID about this RFP. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



B. Contact Information – Contact Information is provided for those individuals who 
attended the pre-submission conference and indicated that they are willing to share 
their contact information. 

 



Bronxchester RFP Pre‐Submission Conference Attendees List
April 24, 2013, 9:00 AM

Name Title Organization Phone Email Share Contact Info
Marc McQuade Project Architect Adjaye Associates 212‐565‐8420 marc@adjaye.com Yes
Joe Franchina Director Adjaye Associates 212‐565‐8420 joe@adjaye.com Yes
Gilbert Sanchez RE Development Vice President APEX Building Company 212‐663‐6288 Gsanchez@apexb.com Yes
Robert Horsford President APEX Building Company 212‐663‐6288 Rthorsford@apexb.com Yes
John Scott Johnson VP BFC Partners 718‐422‐9999 jjohnson@bfcnyc.com  Yes
Christopher Arroyo Dev. BFC Partners 718‐422‐9999 CArroyo@bfcnyc.com] Yes
Ira Brown Director of Development Briarwood Organization 718‐229‐4306 ibrown@briarwoodorg.com Yes
Leslie Alba Vice President Bronx Pro 718‐294‐5840 (305) lalba@bronxprogroup.com Yes
Joshua Delgado Bronxchester 347‐320‐2028 joshuakdelgado@gmail.com Yes
David Beer Director, Real Estate Development Common Ground 212‐389‐9327 dbeer@commonground.org Yes
Olga Jobe AVP Communilife 212‐219‐1618 ojobe@communilife.org Yes
Peter Aaron Associate Partner Cookfox Architects, LLP 212‐477‐0287 paaron@cookfox.com Yes
Mark Ginsberg Partner Curtis+Ginsberg Architects LLP 212‐929‐4417 Mark@cplusga.com Yes
Richard Bednarczyk Architect Curtis+Ginsberg Architects LLP 212‐929‐4417 richard@cplusga.com Yes
Erick Ascencio Danois Architects 917‐339‐0305 eascencio@danoisarchitects.com Yes
David Danois President Danois Architects 917‐339‐0305 david@danoisarchitects.com Yes
William Stein Architect Dattner Architects 212‐247‐2660 jway@dattner.com Yes
Ivan Diaz President Diaz & Associates Realty 718‐216‐3430 idiaz@diazandassoc.com Yes
Larry Gordon Associate Doe Fund 646‐622‐4467 lgordon@doe.org Yes
Matt Feldman VP Douglaston 212‐400‐9292 mfeldman@douglastondevelopment.com Yes
Andrew Knox Partner Edelman Sultan Knox Wood/Architects 212‐431‐4901 aknox@edelmansultan.com Yes
Larry Hirschfield President ELH Management, LLC 718‐855‐5620 larry@elhmgmt.com Yes
Richard Franklin Principael Franklin Associates 917‐714‐5165 rf@faaprf.com Yes
Anaelechi Owunwanne Architect Freeform Deform 347‐335‐0427 anaele@freeformdeform.com Yes
Efrain Perez Partner Freeform Deform 347‐335‐0427 Efrain@freeformdeform.com Yes
Dale White Associate Full Spectrum dewhite@fullspectrum.com Yes
Nicholas McDermott Partner Future Expansion Architects 646‐504‐3387 nwm@fe‐ny.com Yes
Deidre McDermott Partner Future Expansion Architects 646‐504‐3382 dmm@fe‐ny.com Yes
G. Lamont Blackstone Principal G.L. Blackstone & Associates, LLC 914‐663‐0498 UrbanCoreRealty@aol.com Yes
Hanif Muhammad GM Global Construction Management, LLC 347‐293‐7928 info@gcmny.com Yes
Brian Ahern Studio Director Greenberg Farrow 212‐725‐9530 bahern@greenbergfarrow.com Yes
Shannon Leslie Marketing Manager Greenberg Farrow 347‐969‐4938 sleslie@greenbergfarrow.com Yes
John Leimbach Bus. Dev. Grimshaw 646‐293‐3600 john.leimbach@grimshaw‐architects.com Yes
Jordan Gruzen Principal Gruzen Samton IBI jgruzen@gruzensamton.com Yes
Aaron Koffman Director Hudson Companies 212‐777‐9500 akoffman@hudsoninc.com Yes
Joseph Koh Riggs Dir. Hudson Companies 212‐710‐6036 jkohlriggs@hudsoninc.com Yes
Blanca Ramirez AVP Hudson Housing Capital LLC blanca.ramirez@hudsonhousing.com Yes
Kimmel Cameron VP Hudson Housing Capital LLC 212‐218‐4448 Kimmel.cameron@hudsonhousing.com Yes
Pablo Santiago Marketing Manager Ismael Leyva Architects 212‐290‐1444 psantiago@ilarch.com Yes
William Notley CFO Kraus Organization 718‐274‐5000 ext 240 wpa@krausinc.com Yes
Monica Grzegorzek Marketing and Administrative Coordinator Leslie E. Robertson Associates, R.L.L.P. 212‐750‐9000 monica.grzegorzek@lera.com Yes
Karimah Hourmanesh Marketing Manager Leslie E. Robertson Associates, RLLP 212‐750‐9000 karimah@lera.com Yes
Matt Gross Director of Development Lettire Construction 212‐996‐6640 mgross@lettire.com Yes
R. Fogliano Principal Macquesten 914‐667‐7227 R_Fogliano@macquesten.com Yes
Magnus Magnusson Architect Magnusson Architecture and Planning, PC 212‐25307820 mmagnusson@maparchitects.com Yes
Karen Hu AVP Phipps Houses 646‐288‐8278 khu@phippsny.org Yes
Rand Gartman Sr. Proj Mgr R. Acevedo Contracting Inc. R.gartman@acevedoinc.com Yes
Sawandi Boyke Rapid Realty Clinton Hill North 347‐678‐4303 Sboyke@rapidnyc.com Yes
Dean Vanderwarker VP Related  212‐801‐1094 Dvanderwarker@Related.com Yes



Isabelle Dir. Rogers Marvel 646‐442‐5182 Isabelle@rogersmarvel.com Yes
John Colangelo Managing Partner Rose Hill Asset Management Corp. 646‐435‐1897 (ext 711) jcolangelo@rhamco.com Yes
Douglas Romines Director Schwartz Architects 212‐741‐3021 doug@schwartzarch.com Yes
Albert Khoo VP SCK Team Work Corp. 718‐492‐2938 albert@sckwork.com Yes
Carol Lamberg Executive Director Settlement Housing Fund, Inc. 212‐265‐6530 clamberg@shfinc.org Yes
Nicole Clare Assistant Director Settlement Housing Fund, Inc. 212‐265‐6530 nclare@shfinc.org Yes
Stephanie Knepper SKA Marin 516‐466‐9581 stephknepper@skamarin.com Yes
Nathaniel Montgomery Vice President SoBRO 718‐732‐7530 nmontgomery@sobro.org Yes
Phillip Morrow President SoBRO 718‐732‐7501 pmorrow@sobro.org Yes
William Notley CFO The Kraus Organization 718‐274‐5000 ext 240 wpa@krausinc.com Yes
Eva Erlich Project Manager Trinity Financial 617‐720‐8400 eerlich@trinityfinancial.com Yes
Tim Doherty Project Manager Trinity Financial 617‐720‐8400 tdoherty@trinityfinancial.com Yes
Tony Shitemi Pres UAI 212‐979‐1510 tshitemi@uai‐ny.com Yes
R. Palara Unique People Services 718‐231‐7711 Ruthp@uniquepeopleservices.org Yes
Paul Kress Assistant Vice President of Strategic Initiatives Volunteers of America 212‐496‐4361 pkress@voa‐gny.org Yes
Ben Crespi PM Development WSFSSF 212‐731‐9731 Bcrespie@wsfssh.org Yes
R. Wyatt Wyatt & Co. 914‐273‐5103 Wyattco@aol.com Yes
Connie Fishman Sr. VP ‐ Real Estate YMCA of Greater New York 212‐630‐9681 cfishman@ymcanyc.org Yes



Part C: MODIFIED DESIGN GUIDELINES FOR BRONXCHESTER RFP 
 
 
 

III. SITE DESCRIPTION, PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS, AND GUIDELINES 
 
 

D. Design Guidelines 
 
Bronxchester Design Guidelines 
Proposals should strive to conform to the Bronxchester Design Guidelines, and 
preference will be given to those Proposals that most closely adhere to the Guidelines. 
Proposals should aspire to design excellence and standards reflecting the City’s interest 
in quality architectural projects.  Proposals should also conform to HPD Design 
Guidelines for New Construction, included within Appendix F, as well as the current New 
York City Zoning Resolution, the Multiple Dwelling Law, the Fair Housing Act, Section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and Accessibility Requirements.  See Section III.S, 
“Accessibility” for additional information. 

 
The goal is to develop a mixed-use development that will enhance the vibrancy and 
character of the neighborhood by seamlessly integrating the proposed development into 
the existing neighborhood by encouraging architectural variety and appropriate scale for 
the buildings. Submissions should include the following elements. 

 
Streetscape 
• Active ground floor uses on Westchester Avenue on Parcel A. Building frontage 

should have at least 50% glazing along Westchester Avenue for non-residential 
uses, and wrapping at the corners wherever there is ground floor retail space.  

• Street activity encouraged on Bergen Street on Parcel A.   
• Active ground floor uses on Parcel B. Retail frontages should have at least 50% 

glazing.  
• Curb cuts are not allowed on Brook Avenue or Westchester Avenue on Parcel A.   
• On Parcel B, the goal is to maximize uninterrupted street frontage on Westchester 

Avenue.  Curb cuts should be strategically placed and comply with the Zoning 
Resolution.  If necessary, the provisions of Section 36-682 may be waived if the 
Commissioner of Buildings certifies that such a location is not hazardous to traffic 
safety and not likely to create traffic congestion.  If the intent is to pursue a waiver of 
Section 36-682, provide written justification in the Submission.    

• Creative and thoughtful treatment of the Easement (Block 2361, Lot 25).  
• Minimum street-wall height of 40 feet is desired on Parcel B. 
• Block 2363, Lot 1 must be improved as publicly accessible open space. 

Building Massing 
• Variation in street-wall height. 
• Articulate buildings at the corner of Bergen Avenue and Westchester Avenue, and at 

E. 153rd Street and Brook Avenue by maximizing building height at these corners.   
 
 
Green Building/Sustainable and Active Design 
The goal of green building and active design is to reduce the negative impact buildings 
have on the health of the environment and communities, as well as to create a healthy 
indoor and outdoor environment for occupants through integrated design, best practices 
and emerging technologies.  HPD encourages the development of sustainable design, as 
well as active design, which uses architectural and urban design strategies to promote 
public health and increase physical activity in daily life. 



 
Proposals must achieve Certification through the Enterprise Green Communities 
Program, which is a comprehensive green building framework for affordable housing that 
provides cost‐effective standards for creating healthy and energy‐efficient homes. 
Enterprise Green Communities offers an online certification process for affordable 
housing developments built using these criteria. The Green Communities Checklist can 
be found in Appendix G. For affordable housing developments funded by the City of New 
York, instructions about the online certification process can be found 
at: http://www.greencommunitiesonline.org/tools/certification/nyc_hpd_certification.asp 
 
In addition to the documentation requirements of the Green Communities Program, the 
designated Developer(s) will be required to periodically provide budgets that identify 
project costs specifically related to green design, energy efficiency measures and 
building operations, upon HPD’s request. 
 
The Active Design Guidelines can be downloaded from the website address provided 
below:  
http://centerforactivedesign.org/guidelines/ 
 
 
Metropolitan Transportation Authority Infrastructure  
The Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA) maintains a right-of-way adjacent to 
Parcel B. At grade, proposals must maintain at least a 12 foot setback from the fence 
running along the train tracks and from any other above grade transit infrastructure.  
Below grade, excavation work that falls within a 45 degree influence line from MTA 
infrastructure may necessitate shoring, bracing or underpinning of transit infrastructure 
(Appendix H).  The selected Developer will be responsible for the requirements set forth 
in Appendix H, which contain New York City Transit’s Guidelines for Approval of Projects 
within the Influence of Existing NYC Transit Structures. The selected Developer will be 
responsible for verifying the location of transit facilities and protecting the transit facilities 
during construction. The selected Developer’s construction plans and procedures must 
be approved by a New York City Transit engineer. 

 

http://www.greencommunitiesonline.org/tools/certification/nyc_hpd_certification.asp
http://centerforactivedesign.org/guidelines/


D. Map identifying Sewer Easement – Block 2361, Lot 25 – Enclosed is a Map identifying 
the Sewer Easement on Block 2361, Lot 25 from the Bronx Topography Unit.   
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